

Better Health, Brighter Future

Defining Rare Disease in Canada: Lessons from G20 Nations

October 2022





Table of Contents

Abstract	3
Background	4
The Debilitating Burden of Rare Disease	
The Need for Targeted Strategies	4
About Takeda's Commitment to Rare Diseases	5
Multiple Approaches to Defining a Rare Disease	7
1. Quantitative Definitions	7
2. Qualitative Definitions	8
3. Prescriptive Definitions	9
Advantages and Disadvantages of Different Approaches	
Adopting a Quantitative-only Definition	
Pairing Quantitative and Qualitative Definitions	12
Considerations for Canada	13
Appendix 1: Rare Disease Definitions in G20 Nations	14
References	16



Abstract

As Canada takes meaningful steps toward developing and deploying a national strategy for rare diseases, it finds itself as one of a few G20 nations lacking a publicly and consistently articulated definition of "rare disease."

To better understand the global rare disease definitional landscape, Takeda analyzed the different approaches taken by other G20 countries – and came to four important conclusions:

- Due in part to their uncommon nature, rare diseases are often harder to diagnose and more challenging to treat than their more common counterparts. For that reason, a rare disease can have a significant impact on the lifespan and quality of life for an individual patient. Defining what is a rare disease, is a critical early step in formulating policies and funding frameworks for patients with a rare disease.
- 2. The majority of Canada's G20 peers have adopted a reasonably simple, quantitative definition: fewer than **1 patient per 2,000 people**. Other approaches involve qualitative definitions built around criteria like "medical need" and prescriptive definitions that call out designated diseases or disease groups.
- 3. With quantitative-only definitions susceptible to becoming blunt, rigid, or static, some countries have adopted blended definitions that combine quantitative and qualitative elements. With this model, the key risk to mitigate is the inherent challenge of objectively measuring and comparing "medical need" across disease populations and stakeholders.
- 4. Canada has lessons to learn from every jurisdiction reviewed in this report and can benefit, in particular, from studying the approach taken by the European Union (E.U.). By marrying a prevalence threshold with a set of adaptable guidelines, the E.U. relies on a global quantitative norm, but offers policymakers a set of measures designed to instill flexibility and nuance into complex and dynamic deliberations.

Landing on a single, pan-Canadian definition of a rare disease is long overdue. Through this report, Takeda hopes to make a meaningful contribution to achieving not only this essential goal, but also to accelerating the launch of the country's essential Rare Disease Strategy itself.



Background

The Debilitating Burden of Rare Disease

A "rare" disease is any disease that affects a very small number of individuals. It is often genetic, chronic throughout a patient's life and life-threatening.¹ With rare diseases affecting a relatively small set of patients, innovative treatments are often unavailable. In fact, only 5% of rare diseases have an approved treatment.^{2,3} This reality has a distressing effect on patients and their families: studies suggest that at least 50% of rare diseases affect children, 30% of whom die before their fifth birthday.^{2,4,5,6}

The journey toward appropriately managing a rare disease is long and challenging. On average, it takes 6-8 years before a patient receives a correct diagnosis; in this time, a patient will see an average of eight physicians and receive two to three misdiagnoses.⁷ The treatment delays caused by these diagnostic challenges often result in avoidable disease progression, which only amplifies the effect of the diseases on the patient and their caregivers.⁸

The Need for Targeted Strategies

Around the world, many countries have recognized that patients with rare diseases experience a unique set of barriers to appropriate care.¹ As a result, governments have created holistic rare disease strategies to remove these barriers and ensure that stakeholders are working collaboratively and in concert towards a common goal of improved health outcomes for vulnerable patients.

To its great credit, the Government of Canada committed to developing and funding a national rare disease strategy in 2019. However, its efforts are complicated by the fact that there is no internationally agreed-upon definition for rare diseases, and Canada has not officially adopted one of its own.

To support the development of a Made-in-Canada definition of "rare disease," Takeda has produced this report summarizing and assessing the respective approaches that Canada's peers across the G20 have taken in defining what constitutes a "rare disease."[‡]

[‡] The definition of 'drugs for rare diseases' or 'rare diseases' may be different from 'orphan drugs' or 'orphan disease'. In the United States, the Orphan Drug act of 1983 defines orphan drugs as those for whom the market is too small to reasonably expect recuperation of investment costs. As such, orphan drugs and their corresponding diseases can include both rare diseases and more common conditions. As a result, this report will use the term rare disease instead of orphan disease to avoid confusion.



This report explores a wide range of qualitative and quantitative definitions, focusing on definitions used by national government/regulatory agencies and Health Technology Assessment (HTA) organizations. A comprehensive overview of country-by-country rare disease definitions can be found in Appendix 1, following the body of this paper.

From Takeda's previous research into the global rare disease landscape – further outlined below – it's clear that the first step in driving towards an effective and impactful rare disease <u>strategy</u> is to establish a rare disease <u>definition</u>. It's our hope that this paper can meaningfully contribute to accelerating the development of a single, inclusive pan-Canadian definition of what constitutes a "rare disease" – a definition that not only aligns with other countries but also reduces the risk that a disease or patient population "falls through the cracks."

About Takeda's Commitment to Rare Diseases

Takeda is a global, values-based, R&D-driven biopharmaceutical leader headquartered in Japan, committed to discover and deliver life-transforming treatments, guided by our commitment to patients, our people and the planet. Takeda focuses its R&D efforts on four therapeutic areas: Oncology, Rare Genetics and Hematology, Neuroscience, and Gastroenterology (GI). We also make targeted R&D investments in Plasma-Derived Therapies and Vaccines. www.takeda.com.

In 2021, Takeda conducted a landscape analysis of 16 comparator countries to understand better how other nations addressed the unique health system challenges posed by rare diseases.⁹ Our research identified seven key elements instrumental to the success of a comprehensive national rare disease strategy:

- 1. Identifying an Objective and Harmonized Definition of "Rare Disease" Aligning on a definition of rare disease is essential to building a strategy
- 2. Incorporating DRDs into a Holistic Rare Disease Strategy Drugs for rare diseases should be part of a comprehensive rare disease strategy that addresses all parts of the rare disease journey
- 3. Reflecting Disease Rarity in Market Exclusivity and Investment Support

Incentives can be an effective tool to promote research and development for drugs for rare diseases

4. Creating Accelerated Regulatory and Early Access Pathways

Accelerated regulatory and early access pathways can deliver needed treatments to patients faster and address risk for payers



5. Maximizing Shared Value Through HTA, Pricing and Reimbursement

Drugs for rare diseases require alternative health technology assessment (HTA) approaches that include reimbursement with evidence generation and decisions based on budget impact rather than traditional HTA measures

6. Leveraging the Benefits of Accessible Data Collection, Diagnostic Screening and Patient Registries

National accessible data collection drives early diagnosis and research in drugs for rare diseases

7. Improving and Extending Networks of Researchers, Clinicians and Patients

Centres of excellence that include patients, researchers and clinicians are a key model of success in Europe



Multiple Approaches to Defining a Rare Disease

Across the G2O group of countries, health system leaders use a combination of three approaches to defining a rare disease: (1) quantitative definitions; (2) qualitative definitions; and (3) prescriptive definitions.

1. Quantitative Definitions

Most of the rare disease definitions used with G2O countries include a quantitative component. Whether referencing an absolute number of patients diagnosed within a given geography or using a prevalence estimate, these definitions rely on a numerical threshold to delineate rarity. For example:

- The United States' Rare Disease Act (2002): a disease affecting fewer than 200,000 Americans.^{10,11}
- European Union's Orphan Regulation No 141/2000 (1999): a life-threatening, seriously debilitating or serious and chronic condition affecting not more than 5 in 10,000 people in the E.U. ^{12,13}
- Japan's Pharmaceutical Orphan Drug Law (1993): serious diseases where fewer than 50,000 patients in Japan are treated and for which there is a high medical need.¹⁴

While there is no universally accepted quantitative threshold, multiple countries and numerous stakeholders have defined a rare disease as one afflicting **1 patient in 2,000 people in the general population**.

For example, as the United States (U.S.) has a population of 332 million, the legislative rare disease threshold of fewer than 200,000 affected Americans translates to less than **1.2 in 2,000** people. Similarly, Japan's threshold of fewer than 50,000 treated patients in a population of 125 million translates to less than **0.8 in 2,000** people. The E.U. uses exactly **1 in 2,000** people as its threshold.

Most G20 countries with a formal rare disease definition have adopted the same quantitative approach:

- Nine governments/regulatory agencies Australia,¹⁵ Argentina,¹⁵ the European Union,¹⁷
 France,¹⁸ Germany,¹⁹ Italy,^{20,21} Mexico,²² Saudi Arabia²³ and the U.K.²⁴ use the not more than
 1 in 2,000 definition (or a multiple thereof).
- Brazil is the only country defining rare diseases as up to 65 in 100,000, which amounts to not more than 1.3 in 2,000.²⁵



- South Korea, like the U.S. and Japan, defines rare diseases using a fixed number of people: fewer than 20,000 people. With South Korea having a population of around 52 million people, this definition approximately amounts to less than **0.8 in 2,000** people.^{26,27}
- Turkey²⁸ and Russia²⁹ apply much stricter definitions for rare diseases compared to the rest of the G20 countries: **1 in 100,000** and **10 in 100,000**, respectively.
- Although Canada is one of five G20 countries that lacks an official quantitative rare disease definition along with China, India, Indonesia and South Africa a 2014 press release from Health Canada defined a rare disease as a "life threatening, seriously debilitating, or serious chronic condition that only affects a very small number of patients (typically less than 5 in 10,000 persons" which simplifies to 1 in 2,000).^{30,31} Recently, a province in Canada has announced they have adopted the 1 in 2,000 definition.³²

Some of these quantitative definitions have been adopted in legal or regulatory frameworks, while others are alluded to in policies, documents or other official statements.

Beyond the common 1 in 2,000 threshold, the use of a prevalence metric appears to be almost ubiquitous within quantitative definitions. There are, however, exceptions, such as France's National Cancer Institute and the U.S.'s National Cancer Institute, both of which use an incidence metric. The former defines rare cancer as having an incidence threshold of 6 in 100,000 per year or requiring specialized treatment due to atypical tumor location or complex disease characteristics.^{28,33} The latter uses an incidence threshold of fewer than 15 in 100,000 per year.³⁴ Neither incidence metric can be directly compared to their prevalence-based counterparts.

2. Qualitative Definitions

Most stakeholders (national government/regulatory and HTA organizations) define rare diseases using a quantitative threshold element. However, some stakeholders also incorporate a qualitative component to their rare disease definition.

Generally, the used qualitative definitions delineate rare diseases from other diseases by focusing on lower prevalence diseases that are **progressive**, **degenerative**, **severe**, **and chronically debilitating or life-threatening**.³¹ The addition of the qualitative component seems to address the concern that rarity by itself does not always translate to high medical need.³⁵

Although the Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH) has not published a formal rare disease definition, the Agency uses both quantitative and qualitative factors to designate a rare disease within its Procedure for Reimbursement Reviews document for oncology drugs, non-oncology drugs and plasma protein products. The Agency describes a rare disease as one that:

- is life-threatening, seriously debilitating, or both serious and chronic in nature
- affects a relatively small number of patients (incidence of fewer than 5 in 10,000, but typically closer to 1 in 100,000)



- is often genetically based, onset at birth or early childhood, and leads to a shortened lifespan
- places a heavy burden on caregivers and the health care system
- is difficult to study because of the small patient population.^{36,37}

Health Canada's 2014 press release on a proposed rare disease definition also includes both qualitative and quantitative components: life-threatening, seriously debilitating, or serious chronic condition that only affects a very small number of patients (typically less than 5 in 10,000 persons).

Furthermore, the E.U.,¹² European Medicines Agency,¹³ and Japan's Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare's rare disease definitions are similar to Health Canada's proposed definition.¹⁴

Of the 20 sources Takeda reviewed, only the U.K.'s National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE)'s Highly Specialized Technology (HST) program defined rare disease using an entirely qualitative definition. The HST program only considers drugs for very rare conditions.³⁸ The definition used to describe the disease characteristics to be eligible for this program include three criteria:

- The target patient group [...] is so small that treatment will usually be concentrated in very few centres in the NHS;
- The target patient group is distinct for clinical reasons; and
- The condition is chronic and severely disabling.

3. Prescriptive Definitions

Finally, some stakeholders use a prescriptive definition for rare disease. This involves explicitly designating diseases or groups of diseases as rare diseases.

For example, Italy adds a list of diseases regarded as rare to its quantitative definition. It lists nearly 546 rare diseases or groups of diseases but excludes rare cancers, which are captured in the country's cancer framework. The list of rare diseases determines which patients are entitled to benefits and access to care.^{21,39,40}

On the other hand, China has taken a purely prescriptive approach to defining a rare disease – in part due to a lack of local epidemiological data on rare disease prevalence. As a result, China has refrained from any quantitative definition and has instead published a list of 121 diseases it defines as rare.^{41,42}

Like China, India has limited local epidemiological data with which to develop quantitative thresholds. It has, therefore, opted to lay out a list of rare diseases defined by qualitative criteria. However, the Indian National Policy for Rare Diseases has made it clear that its list is not exhaustive and will be reviewed periodically by a technical committee. Concurrently, India has operationalized a national rare disease registry to eventually allow for the implementation of a prevalence-based rare disease definition.^{43,44}



Advantages and Disadvantages of Different Approaches

Adopting a Quantitative-only Definition

As we reviewed the comparative approaches taken by G20 countries, the appeal of quantitative definitions was clear. Our analysis also revealed three distinct challenges that weaken the robustness of a quantitative-only model. Thankfully, the E.U.'s approach offers lessons from other jurisdictions looking to mitigate those risks.

A quantitative definition benefits from being precise and relies on limited discretion in its interpretation. Once a disease is designated as rare within a particular geography, stakeholders can work together to reduce the risk that a disease or patient population "falls through the cracks." This clarity can also provide a level of repeatability when determining if other diseases are rare diseases and consistency when implementing a process to treat rare diseases. Defining rare diseases based on prevalence only is neither straightforward nor without risk. For example, this approach could inadvertently:

- Exclude or include some rare diseases due to grouping. For example, a disease can be categorized too broadly, like a rare cancer classified within an umbrella cancer group. Similarly, sub-setting or salami slicing an indication is a possibility.
- 2. Exclude a disease that is slightly above the prevalence threshold. Significant medical need may exist in a rare disease slightly over a particular quantitative threshold.
- **3. Fail to address changes in disease prevalence over time.** Improved awareness and survival may increase prevalence, while a cure may decrease prevalence.

These examples shine a light on some of the challenges that come with solely relying on a quantitative definition. However, a number of potential solutions are helpfully outlined in the policies and guidelines describing the implementation of E.U.'s Orphan Regulation No 141/2000 (1999), aligned to the three challenges identified above:

1. Exclude or include some rare diseases due to grouping.

To alleviate this challenge, when a particular disease is being evaluated against the rare disease threshold, the E.U. has policies and guidelines to define the disease grouping. For example, the E.U.



requires a clear and precise description of the disease using published references⁴⁵; sub-setting where artificial subsets of a non-orphan condition are created, is rarely accepted.⁴⁶ This approach reduces the likelihood that a disease population contained within a broader patient cohort will be excluded from receiving the rare disease designation, and conversely a subset of a common disease will be included.

2. Exclude a disease that is slightly above the prevalence threshold.

The ultimate goal of using a rare disease quantitative definition is to identify populations with a high medical need using a simple, replicable and repeatable method. However, there can be populations that sit slightly above a particular threshold where significant medical need still exists due to the infrequent nature of a given disease. To inject flexibility, the E.U. guidelines include the statement: *"a prevalence of not more than five affected persons per 10 thousand is generally regarded as the appropriate threshold; medicinal products intended for a life-threatening, seriously debilitating or serious and chronic condition should be eligible even when the prevalence is higher than five per 10 thousand."⁴⁷*

In other words, a disease can still be reasonably considered rare even if the prevalence rate modestly exceeds the established E.U. threshold – a nuanced approach that offers policymakers helpful flexibility.

3. Fail to address changes in disease prevalence over time

Some diseases that initially were classified as rare can eventually outgrow this definition. This occurs if the disease spreads (e.g., infectious diseases), if diagnostics capabilities and surveillance systems improve, and if the emergence of life-prolonging treatments allows more patients to live longer with their condition. The epidemiological history of AIDS offers an excellent example of this dynamic. When AIDS first emerged in the U.S., it initially fit the legislative threshold and definition of a rare disease by affecting fewer than 200,000 individuals. Over time, however, the spread of the disease – coupled with better diagnostics, surveillance and treatment options – led to a significant increase in the total number of individuals with AIDS. As a result, by 2007 the number of HIV infected exceeded 1.1 million.⁴⁸

Conversely, effective prevention strategies can turn a common disease into a rare one. Examples include mumps and measles – conditions that were once common childhood infections. Primary prevention strategies such as immunization have prevented the disease from ever occurring in the vast majority of children, thereby decreasing the prevalence and incidence of both diseases. For example, in 1968, the U.S. reported 152,209 cases of mumps. Between the years 2000 and 2022, there were approximately 37,000 cases total.⁴⁹

These examples highlight how disease prevalence changes over time – along with their prevention, diagnosis and treatment. To account for this, the E.U. guidelines require a critical review of how



disease epidemiology may evolve and call out the scenario where increased patient survival due to improved treatment could be used as a reason to remove a rare disease designation.¹⁷

The mitigating measures embedded within the E.U. Guidelines highlight the importance of providing policymakers with flexibility to ensure that quantitative definitions are robust but not rigid, and adaptive rather than archaic.

Pairing Quantitative and Qualitative Definitions

Jurisdictions whose rare disease definitions contain quantitative and qualitative components blend the consistency of prevalence thresholds with the targeted lens of medical need. Policymakers must take care to create a process to assess that medical need that is both rigorous and respected.

Combining qualitative and quantitative definitions adds helpful depth to a rare disease definition. For example, adding a significant medical need criterium to a prevalence threshold increases specificity towards an underserved population.

The rare disease definitions adopted by the E.U. and Japan differ from the U.S. definition in this regard. The E.U. requires the disease to be a "life-threatening, seriously debilitating or serious and chronic condition" in addition to "affecting not more than 5 in 10,000 people in the community".¹²

Note that adding a medical need component does not come without risks. Objectively determining relative medical need is a challenging endeavour, and overlaying that lens with a prevalence threshold may create discrepancies in perspectives and even inequities in policymaking. It is possible that a particular stakeholder along the patient journey considers a disease as having a higher medical need than a second stakeholder present along the same patient journey. To address this concern, significant effort must be made to ensure that stakeholders are collectively aligned with the deliberative process of how medical need is determined.



Considerations for Canada

As Canadian policymakers and health system stakeholders lay the cornerstones of a national rare disease strategy, it's clear that a critical milestone will be settling on a single, consensus pan-Canadian definition of what constitutes a rare disease.

For many of Canada's G20 peers, a simple quantitative definition was sufficient. As Takeda reviewed the policy approaches taken by a broad range of comparators, one quantitative definition emerged time and time again: a rare disease is one whose prevalence is not more than 1 patient per 2,000 people in the general population. This prevalence threshold would translate to a rare disease affecting not more than 19,300 Canadians, considering the Canadian population as of 2022.⁵⁰

These findings are corroborated by a 2015 ISPOR systematic review on rare disease definitions.⁵¹ ISPOR found that 88% of all countries it reviewed relied on a prevalence-based threshold to define a rare disease, with the majority using a threshold between 0.8 and 1 per 2,000.

Reflecting on the ubiquity of this approach, it's clear that Canada's rare disease community and its government partners will need to consider a number of key questions carefully:

- Should Canada simply adopt the 1 in 2000 prevalence threshold that currently exists in many comparator nations?
- If Canada adopts a blended definition that combines quantitative and qualitative approaches, by what trusted and legitimate mechanism will the country determine relative and absolute "medical need"?
- How can advocates, researchers, clinicians and decision-makers from provincial and territorial health systems unite around a single definition that reflects their realities and meets their needs?

Answering these questions will be neither speedy nor straightforward. Still, it is imperative to establish a singular rare disease definition for Canadians – and not simply a definition that works for one rare disease but a definition that works for all of them. From this foundation, Canada can develop and deliver a long-overdue rare disease strategy that will provide some of the most medically vulnerable Canadians with the support, the tools and the treatments they need.

Through this report, Takeda aspires to have created a resource that will support crucial definitional policy discussions to come and also bring the completion and launch of a Canadian Rare Disease Strategy that much closer.



Appendix 1: Rare Disease Definitions in G20 Nations

	BODY USING DEFINITION	QUANTITATIVE COMPONENT WITHIN DEFINITION	QUALITATIVE COMPONENT WITHIN DEFINITION	OTHER CONSIDERATIONS
Argentina ^{16,52}	National Government/ Regulatory	≤1 in 2,000 Prevalence		
Australia ^{53,54}	National Government/ Regulatory	< 1 in 2,000 Prevalence (< 5 in 10,000)	And condition is life-threatening or seriously debilitating	
Brazil ^{25,55}	National Government/ Regulatory	≤ 1.3 in 2,000 Prevalence (≤ 65 in 100,000)		
Canada ³²	Local Government (Quebec)	≤1 in 2,000 Prevalence		
China ^{41,56,57}	National Government/ Regulatory		A published a list of 121 rare diseases	
European Union ^{12,13}	National Government/ Regulatory	≤ 1 in 2,000 Prevalence (≤ 5 in 10,000)	And a disease that is life-threatening or chronically debilitating	
France ¹⁸	National Government/ Regulatory	\leq 1 in 2,000 Prevalence	And a disease that is life-threatening or chronically debilitating	
France ^{28,33}	National Government	≤ 6 in 100,000 Per Year Incidence	Or requiring specialized treatment due to atypical location of complex disease characterises	Cancer-specific
Germany ¹⁹	National Government/ Regulatory	\leq 1 in 2,000 Prevalence	And a disease that is life-threatening or chronically debilitating	
India	National Government/ Regulatory		A published a list of 3 umbrella rare disease groupings	Due to limited local epidemiological data, cannot use a quantitative based definition. Working towards a prevalence- based rare disease definition
Indonesia		No definition		
Italy ^{21,39,40}	National Government/ Regulatory	≤ 1 in 2,000 Prevalence (≤ 5 in 10,000)	And a disease that is life-threatening or chronically debilitating; Or a published list of 546 rare diseases or groups of diseases	Published list excludes cancer



	BODY USING DEFINITION	QUANTITATIVE COMPONENT WITHIN DEFINITION	QUALITATIVE COMPONENT WITHIN DEFINITION	OTHER CONSIDERATIONS
Japan ^{14,58}	National Government/ Regulatory	≤ 0.8 in 2,000 Prevalence (Fewer than 50,000 treated patients in Japan)	And a serious disease; And high medical need	
Mexico ^{59,60}	National Government/ Regulatory	≤1 in 2,000 Prevalence (≤ 5 in 10,000)		
Russia ^{28,29,61}	National Government/ Regulatory	< 1 in 10,000 Prevalence (< 10 in 100,000)		
Saudi Arabia ⁶²	National Government/ Regulatory	< 1 in 2,000 Prevalence		
South Africa		No definition		
South Korea ^{26,27}	National Government/ Regulatory	< 0.8 in 2,000 Prevalence (Fewer than 20,000 patients in South Korea)	Or whose number of patients is unknown because diagnosis of the disease is difficult	
Turkey ²⁸	National Government/ Regulatory	≤1 in 100,000 Prevalence		
United Kingdom ^{63,64}	National Government/ Regulatory	≤1 in 2,000 Prevalence	And a disease that is life-threatening or chronically debilitating	
United Kingdom ³⁸	НТА		The target patient group [] is so small that treatment will usually be concentrated in very few centres in the NHS; And the target patient group is distinct for clinical reasons; And the condition is chronic and severely disabling.	
The United States ^{10,11}	National Government/ Regulatory	≤ 1.2 in 2,000 Prevalence (Fewer than 200,000 patients in The United States)		
The United States ³⁴	National Government	<15 in 100,000 Per Year Incidence		



References

- Critical Care Services Ontario. RARE DISEASES WORKING GROUP REPORT. March 10, 2017. [Cited 2022 Apr 6]. Available from: RARE DISEASES WORKING GROUP REPORT (gov.on.ca)
- 2. National Organization for Rare Disorders. Rare Disease Day. Frequently Asked Questions. [Cited 2022 Apr 6] Available from: https://rarediseases.org/wp-content/ uploads/2019/01/RDD-FAQ-2019.pdf
- 3. Clarke, S., Ellis, M. & Brownrigg, J. The impact of rarity in NICE's health technology appraisals. Orphanet J Rare Dis 16, 218 (2021). [Cited 2022 Apr 6]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13023-021-01845-x
- EDITORIAL. Spotlight on rare diseases. The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology. | VOLUME 7, ISSUE 2, P75, FEBRUARY 01, 2019.. DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2213-8587(19)30006-3
- 5. Batshaw ML, Groft SC, Krischer JP. Research into rare diseases of childhood. JAMA. 2014;311(17):1729-1730. Available from: 10.1001/jama.2013.285873
- 6. The United Kingdom Department of Health & Social Welfare. The UK Rare Diseases Framework. January 9, 2021. [Cited 2022 Apr 6]. Available from: https:// apcp.csp.org.uk/news/2021-07-29-uk-rare-diseasesframework
- 7. Shire. Rare Disease Impact Report: Insights from patients and the medical community. April 2013. [Cited Apr 6]. Available from: https://globalgenes.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/ShireReport-1.pdf
- Sawyer SL et al.. Utility of whole-exome sequencing for those near the end of the diagnostic odyssey: time to address gaps in care. Clin Genet. 2016 Mar;89(3):275-84. doi: 10.1111/cge.12654. [Cited 2022 Apr 6] Available from : https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26283276/
- Takeda. Strategies for Rare Diseases: International Landscape Report. December 2020. [Cited 202 Apr 6]. Available from: https://www.takeda.com/4ae35c/ siteassets/en-ca/home/newsroom/strategiesfor-rarediseases/strategies-for-rare-diseases----international-landscape-report--dec-2021-en.pdf
- 10. U.S. Food & Drug Administration. Orphan Drug Act -Relevant Excerpts. [Cited 2022 Apr 6]. Available from: Orphan Drug Act - Relevant Excerpts | FDA
- U.S. Government. One Hundred Seventh Congress of the United States of America AT THE SECOND SESSION. January 23, 2002. [Cited 2022 Apr 6]. Available from: https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/ BILLS-107hr4013enr/pdf/BILLS-107hr4013enr.pdf
- REGULATION (EC) No 141/2000 OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL. 16 December 1999. On orphan medicinal products. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: REGULATION (EC) No 141/2000 OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL of 16 December 1999 on orphan medicinal products -Publications Office of the EU (europa.eu)
- European Medicines Agency. Orphan designation: Overview. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: Orphan designation: Overview | European Medicines Agency (europa.eu)

- Japanese Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare. Overview of Orphan Drug/Medical Device Designation System. 2009. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare: Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices (mhlw.go.jp)
- Australian Government Department of Health. What we're doing about rare diseases. 2022. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://www.health.gov. au/health-topics/chronic-conditions/what-weredoing-about-chronic-conditions/what-were-doingabout-rare-diseases#:~:text=ln%20Australia%2C%20 a%20disease%20is,life%20threatening%20or%20 chronically%20debilitating
- Mayrides, M., Ruiz de Castilla, E. & Szelepski, S. A civil society view of rare disease public policy in six Latin American countries. Orphanet J Rare Dis 15, 60 (2020). [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://doi. org/10.1186/s13023-020-1314-z
- COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES. COMMUNICATION FROM THE COMMISSION Guideline on aspects of the application of Article 8(2) of Regulation (EC) No 141/2000: Review of the period of market exclusivity of orphan medicinal products. 2008. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://ec.europa.eu/health/ document/download/36d8d056-de4c-4d4c-8b86-6fb0605fe57d_en?filename=c_2008_4051_en.pdf
- Ministry of Solidarity and Health; Ministry for Higher Education, Research and Innovation. FRENCH NATIONAL PLAN FOR RARE DISEASES 2018-2022. Sharing innovation, a diagnosis and a treatment for all. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://solidaritessante.gouv.fr/IMG/pdf/pnmr3_-_en.pdf
- National Action League for People with Rare Diseases. National Plan of Action for people with rare diseases. Action Fields, Recommendations, Proposed Actions. 2013. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https:// www.bundesgesundheitsministerium.de/fileadmin/ Dateien/3_Downloads/N/NAMSE/National_Plan_of_ Action.pdf
- 20. The Italian Government. Senate of the Republic. May 2021. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: http://www. quotidianosanita.it/allegati/allegato643123.pdf
- 21. RD Action. Data and Policies for Rare Diseases. State of the Art for Rare Diseases – Activities in EU Member States and Other European Countries Italy Report. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: Italy-Report.pdf (rd-action.eu)
- 22. Government of Mexico. General Health Law. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: http://www. ordenjuridico.gob.mx/Documentos/Federal/html/ wo11037.html
- 23. Saudi Arabia. Ministry of Health. Rare Diseases. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://www.moh.gov.sa/ en/HealthAwareness/EducationalContent/Diseases/ Rarediseases/Pages/default.aspx



- 24. Government of the U.K. Department of Health and Social Welfare. Policy paper. The UK Rare Diseases Framework. 9 January 2021. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/ publications/uk-rare-diseases-framework/the-uk-rarediseases-framework#:-:text=A%20rare%20disease%20 is%20defined,being%20identified%20as%20 research%20advances.
- 25. BRAZILIAN HEALTH SURVEILLANCE AGENCY COLLEGIATE BOARD RDC RESOLUTION # 205, DECEMBER 28, 201. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://abracro.org.br/pdfs/Resolucao-RDC205de-27-12-17-ingles.pdf
- Ministry of Food and Drug Safety. Regulation on Designation of Orphan Drugs. 2018. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: Regulations|Drugs|Our Works|Minisry of Food and Drug Safety (mfds.go.kr)
- 27. Korea Legislation Research Institute. Korea Law Translation Centre. RARE DISEASE MANAGEMENT ACT. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://elaw.klri.re.kr/eng_service/lawView. do?hseq=43655&lang=ENG
- Czech, Marcin, et al. "A review of rare disease policies and orphan drug reimbursement systems in 12 Eurasian countries." Frontiers in public health 7 (2020): 416. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: Frontiers | A Review of Rare Disease Policies and Orphan Drug Reimbursement Systems in 12 Eurasian Countries | Public Health (frontiersin.org)
- 29. Lidings. PharmaBoardRoom. Orphan drugs and rare diseases. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: PharmaBoardroom - Orphan Drugs & Rare Diseases: Russia
- Government of Canada. Press release. Minister Ambrose Announces Patient Involvement Pilot for Orphan Drugs. August 2014. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/news/ archive/2014/08/minister-ambrose-announces-patientinvolvement-pilot-orphan-drugs.html
- CADTH ENVIRONMENTAL SCAN Drugs for Rare Diseases: Evolving Trends in Regulatory and Health Technology Assessment Perspectives. October 2013. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://www. cadth.ca/sites/default/files/pdf/ES0300_Rare_ Disease_Drugs_e.pdf
- 32. Gouvernement du Québec. POUR UNE MEILLEURE RECONNAISSANCE ET PRISE EN CHARGE DES PERSONNES ATTEINTES DE MALADIES RARES. [Cited 2022 June 30]. Available from : Politique québécoise pour les maladies rares (gouv.qc.ca)
- Institut National du Cancer. FRENCH NATIONAL NETWORKS FOR RARE CANCERS IN ADULTS / Review and Outlook. April 2015. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://www.e-cancer.fr/content/ download/119846/1431699/file/Cancers-rares-adultesenglish-2015.pdf
- 34. Walker, E.V.et al. Rare cancers in Canada, 2006-2016: A population-based surveillance report and comparison of different methods for classifying rare cancers. Cancer Epidemiology. Volume 67, August 2020. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1877782120300552

- McCabe C, Claxton K, Tsuchiya A. Orphan drugs and the NHS: should we value rarity?. BMJ. 2005;331(7523):1016-1019. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: Orphan drugs and the NHS: should we value rarity? - PMC (nih.gov)
- CADTH. Procedures for CADTH Reimbursement Reviews. March 2022. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://cadth.ca/sites/default/files/Drug_ Review_Process/CADTH_Drug_Reimbursement_ Review_Procedures.pdf
- 37. CADTH. Drugs for Rare Diseases: A Review of National and International Health Technology Assessment Agencies and Public Payers' Decision-Making Processes. May 26, 2020. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://www.cadth.ca/drugs-rare-diseasesreview-national-and-international-health-technologyassessment-agencies-and
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Interim Process and Methods of the Highly Specialised Technologies Programme Updated to reflect 2017 changes. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR CLINICAL EXCELLENCE (nice.org.uk)
- 39. Italian Government. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://www.gazzettaufficiale.it/eli/ id/2001/07/12/001G0334/sg
- Italian Government. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://www.gazzettaufficiale. it/do/atto/serie_generale/caricaPdf?cdimg=00 1G033400100010110001&dgu=2001-07-12&art. dataPubblicazioneGazzetta=2001-07-12&art. codiceRedazionale=001G0334&art.num=1&art. tiposerie=SG
- He J, Kang Q, Hu J, Song P, Jin C. China has officially released its first national list of rare diseases. Intractable Rare Dis Res. 2018;7(2):145-147. doi:10.5582/ irdr.2018.01056. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC5982625/
- 42. World Economic Forum. China is picking up the fight against rare diseases. June 2019. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: China is picking up the fight against rare diseases | World Economic Forum (weforum.org)
- 43. Government of India. Ministry of Health and Family Welfare. Union Health Minister approves National Policy for Rare Diseases, 2021. Press release April 3, 2021. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://pib.gov.in/ PressReleaseIframePage.aspx?PRID=1709369
- 44. Government of India. Ministry of Health and Family Welfare. National Policy for Treatment of Rare Diseases. July, 2017. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https:// main.mohfw.gov.in/sites/default/files/Final%20 NPRD%2C%202021.pdf
- 45. Joëlle Micallef, Olivier Blin,. Orphan drug designation in Europe: A booster for the research and development of drugs in rare diseases, Therapies, Volume 75, Issue 2, 2020, Pages 133-139. [Cited 2022 April 11]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.therap.2020.02.003.
- Belgian Health Care Knowledge Centre. Policies for Orphan Diseases and Orphan Drugs. KCE reports 112C. 2009. [Cited 2022 April 11]. Available from: Policies for Orphan Diseases and Orphan Drugs (europa.eu)



- The European Union. REGULATION (EC) No 141/2000 OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL of 16 December 1999 on orphan medicinal products. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: REGULATION (EC) No 141/2000 OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL of 16 December 1999 on orphan medicinal products - Publications Office of the EU (europa.eu)
- Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Accelerating Rare Diseases Research and Orphan Product Development; Field MJ, Boat TF, editors. Rare Diseases and Orphan Products: Accelerating Research and Development. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2010. 2, Profile of Rare Diseases. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/books/NBK56184/
- 49. Centres for Disease Control and Prevention. Mumps Cases and Outbreaks. April 2022. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: Mumps | Cases and Outbreaks | CDC
- 50. Statistics Canada. Canada's population clock (real-time model). [Cited 2022 April 28]. Canada's population clock (real-time model) (statcan.gc.ca)
- 51. Richter T, Nestler-Parr S, Babela R, et al. Rare Disease Terminology and Definitions—A Systematic Global Review: Report of the ISPOR Rare Disease Special Interest Group. Value in Health. 2015;18(6):906-914. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: ISPOR - Rare Disease Terminology and Definitions - A Systematic Global Review
- Martin Mosteirin, Marval, O'Farrell & Mairal. Distribution and marketing of drugs in Argentina: overview. Thomson Reuters Practical Law. 2019. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: Distribution and marketing of drugs in Argentina: overview | Practical Law (thomsonreuters. com)
- 53. Australian Government. Department of Health. National Strategic Action Plan for Rare Diseases. February 2020. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: national-strategicaction-plan-for-rare-diseases.pdf (health.gov.au)
- 54. Australian Government. Department of Health. Therapeutic Goods Administration. Orphan drug designation eligibility criteria. April 2021. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: Orphan drug designation eligibility criteria | Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA)
- 55. Global Regulatory Partners. OVERVIEW OF THE REGITRATION PROCESS OF ORPHAN DRUGS IN BRAZIL. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: Orphan Drug Registration Brazil (Anvisa) (globalregulatorypartners.com)
- Cui Y, Han J. Defining rare diseases in China. Intractable Rare Dis Res. 2017;6(2):148-149. doi:10.5582/ irdr.2017.01009. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC5451750/
- 57. China's list of rare diseases. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: china_raredisease_list.ashx (morganlewis.com)
- IFPMA. RARE DISEASES: shaping a future with noone left behind. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: IFPMA_Rare_Diseases_Brochure_28Feb2017_FINAL. pdf

- 59. Government of Mexico. General Health Law. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: http://www. ordenjuridico.gob.mx/Documentos/Federal/html/ wo11037.html
- 60. Olivares. PharmaBoardRoom. Orphan drugs and rare diseases. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: PharmaBoardroom - Orphan Drugs & Rare Diseases: Mexico
- 61. Russian Government. On the Basics of Protecting the Health of Citizens in the Russian Federation. Federal Law. 2022. [Cited 2022 April 11]. Available from: http:// www.consultant.ru/document/cons_doc_LAW_121895/ bbfb814a127237db75b90e154333ef3f085f4e7f/
- 62. Saudi Arabia. Ministry of Health. Rare Diseases. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://www.moh.gov.sa/ en/HealthAwareness/EducationalContent/Diseases/ Rarediseases/Pages/default.aspx
- 63. Government of the U.K. Department of Health and Social Welfare. Policy paper. The UK Rare Diseases Framework. 9 January 2021. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/ publications/uk-rare-diseases-framework/the-uk-rarediseases-framework#:~:text=A%20rare%20disease%20 is%20defined,being%20identified%20as%20 research%20advances.
- 64. Government of the U.K. Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency. Guidance. Orphan medicinal products. December 2020. [Cited 2022 April 6]. Available from: Orphan medicinal products GOV. UK (www.gov.uk)